ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Beaufort County

G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

APR 09 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ANDRE DECOSTA,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2011-196666

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The Trial Court erred in refusing to suppress the evidence obtained as a result of law enforcement's unlawful stop of the vehicle in which Appellant was a passenger where law enforcement did not have either probable cause or reasonable suspicion of criminal activity to justify stopping the vehicle; the driver of the vehicle had not violated any traffic laws and the only reason the officer stopped the vehicle was because (1) the vehicle, which was not the only moving vehicle in the area at that time, was spotted 0.7 miles away from a burglary that had been committed minutes earlier during the early morning hours of November 29, 2010; and (2) the vehicle was slowly approaching a stop sign on a side street to turn right onto a major thoroughfare.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 27, 2011, Appellant Andre DeCosta was indicted by the Beaufort County Grand Jury for (1) second degree burglary; (2) grand larceny in the amount of \$10,000 or more; and (3) third degree arson.

On July 25-27, 2011, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. R. p. 63.¹ Appellant elected to proceed with a bench trial. R. pp. 70, l. 20 – 73, l. 5. Appellant was represented by Matthew L. Walker, and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitors Casey N. Rankin and Sean P. Thornton. R. p. 63.

On July 27, 2011, Judge Cooper found Appellant guilty as charged. R. p. 249, ll. 19-24. He sentenced Appellant to (1) fifteen years for second degree burglary; (2) ten years for grand larceny in the amount of \$10,000 or more; and (3) fifteen years for third degree arson. R. p. 258, ll. 6-17; R. 270 (Sentence Sheets). Judge Cooper ordered the sentences to run concurrently. R. p. 258; 18-19; R. 270 (Sentence Sheets).

On July 28, 2011, Appellant made a motion for new trial which Judge Cooper denied. July 28 Hearing R. p. 260-266.

Appellant timely filed and served his Notice of Appeal.

¹ The court reporter originally prepared the transcript of the trial for the days of July 25-27, 2011 but indicated in the transcript that she was unable to transcribe the entire proceedings of the afternoon of July 25, 2011. Appellant will refer to this transcript as Tr. II in the initial brief. After the parties moved forward to reconstruct the missing portions of the trial, the court reporter located the disks containing the July 25, 2011 proceedings and prepared a separate transcript with separate pages numbers for this day. Appellant will refer to this transcript as Tr. I. in the initial brief.

ARGUMENT

The Trial Court erred in refusing to suppress the evidence obtained as a result of law enforcement's unlawful stop of the vehicle in which Appellant was a passenger where law enforcement did not have either probable cause or reasonable suspicion of criminal activity to justify stopping the vehicle; the driver of the vehicle had not violated any traffic laws and the only reason the officer stopped the vehicle was because (1) the vehicle, which was not the only moving vehicle in the area at that time, was spotted 0.7 miles away from a burglary that had been committed minutes earlier during the early morning hours of November 29, 2010; and (2) the vehicle was slowly approaching a stop sign on a side street to turn right onto a major thoroughfare.

Relevant facts of suppression hearing

Appellant moved to suppress the evidence taken from the stop of the vehicle in which Appellant was riding as well as any statements or confessions following from such stop where there was no probable cause or reasonable suspicion for law enforcement to stop the vehicle. The Trial Court heard evidence on the motion during a pre-trial suppression hearing. R. p. 5, ll. 2-21.

Officer Christopher Gonzales of the Bluffton Police Department testified that during the early morning hours of November 29, 2010, he responded to two separate locations. The first location was Dan's Fan City. The second location was Ligato's Jewelry Store. R. p. 6, ll. 5-19. He first received a call at 2:39 a.m. to respond to a fire at Dan's Fan City. Dan's Fan City was located in a shopping center on Highway 278 called Plantation Park. He responded to the fire at Dan's Fan City. R. pp. 6, l. 24 – 7, l. 16.

Officer Gonzales then received another call shortly after that to respond to an alarm at Ligato's Jewelry Store located in the Bluffton Commons at 80 Baylor Drive in Bluffton. Officer Gonzales believed that the fire at Dan's Fan City was set as a diversion for the break-in at the jewelry store. Officer Gonzales left Dan's Fan City and arrived at the scene of the jewelry store where approximately ten units had already responded. R. pp. 7, l. 17 –

8, l. 23. The dispatch call from the burglary at the jewelry store came in at about 2:48 a.m. R. p. 33, ll. 7-16. Officer Gonzales believed he arrived at the jewelry store around 2:50 a.m. R. p. 34, ll. 16-22.

Dan's Fan City was approximately a mile away from Ligato's Jewelry Store. R p. 11, ll. 1 -3. When Officer Gonzales arrived at the jewelry store, he instructed an officer to determine if someone had gotten inside from the front glass and he drove to the back of the building to see if he could catch somebody on the inside. As he was riding to the back of the building, he was advised that someone had gotten inside the store and taken some items so Officer Gonzales immediately responded back out onto Buck Island Road to see if he could locate a vehicle. He said the time was approximately 2:50 a.m. R. pp. 11, l. 18 – 12, l. 12.

Officer Gonzales testified that after he left the jewelry store, he saw a vehicle on Westbury Park Drive at the intersection of Highway 278. R. pp. 12, l. 13 – 13, l. 1. He said that the vehicle was located between the two incident locations, and he further claimed during his direct examination by the solicitor that there was not a lot of other traffic on the road at that time. R. pp. 13, ll. 2-8.

Officer Gonzales admitted though that he had seen another vehicle driving near the area prior to his arrival at Ligato's Jewelry Store, but that when he left the store and drove back out to Highway 278, that vehicle was gone. He testified that is when he saw the vehicle in question coming out of Westbury Park Drive. R. p. 13, ll. 19-25. He stated he saw this vehicle, the one in which Appellant would subsequently be found, approximately four minutes after the burglary. R. p. 38, ll. 7-10.

Officer Gonzales also claimed the vehicle he saw as he pulled up to the intersection of Westbury Park Drive and Highway 278 was driving at “a real slow speed.” The vehicle then turned right onto Highway 278 at Buck Island Road and Officer Gonzales tried to catch up with it. R. p. 14, ll. 1 – 13.

Officer Gonzales caught up with the vehicle and notified dispatch to run the tag. He then activated his patrol lights to conduct a stop. The vehicle pulled into a Walgreens parking lot. After he stopped the vehicle, Officer Gonzales was advised that the tag was suspended. He reiterated that he did not learn that the tag was suspended until after he stopped the vehicle. R. pp. 14, l. 14 – 15, l. 2.

Officer Gonzales approached the vehicle from the passenger side and walked up to the back window. He looked down and noticed a subject lying down in the backseat. This subject was later determined to be Appellant. Officer Gonzales advised Appellant to sit up and put his hands where he could see them. He noticed that Appellant and the driver were dressed in all black. R. p. 15, ll. 8-21.

The driver, Mr. Hamilton, consented to a search of his vehicle. Officer Gonzales found jewelry and watches that appeared to have come from the jewelry store just burglarized. Officer Gonzales also saw an ax on the floor. R. pp. 16, l. 9 – 17, l. 8.

On cross-examination, Officer Gonzales acknowledged that while he was driving from Dan’s Fan City to Ligato’s Jewelry Store, he did not see the vehicle he would later stop – the vehicle in which Appellant was riding. R. p. 21, ll. 8-11. He did confirm that he had seen another vehicle while driving to the jewelry store. R. pp. 21, l. 19 – 22, l. 4. That was the vehicle Officer Gonzales was looking for when he left the jewelry store, and he testified that had he seen that first vehicle, he would have stopped it. R. p. 22, ll. 5 – 18.

Officer Gonzales admitted on cross-examination that when he left the jewelry store, he had no information about who had committed the burglary. He did not know if it had been committed by someone on foot, bicycle, or vehicle. R. p. 24, ll. 13-23.

Officer Gonzales also admitted that the vehicle he stopped was turning onto Highway 278 from a private road and that it would have been improper for someone to have been driving down a private road at a high rate of speed. R. pp. 24, l. 24 – 25, l. 12. He also acknowledged that he was not actually behind this vehicle when he first saw it and instead saw it turning right. Officer Gonzales only saw the vehicle driving for a short distance before it turned right. He also acknowledged there was a stop sign there. R. p. 40, ll. 5-23. Therefore, there would have been nothing unusual or wrong about someone driving a vehicle slowly on a private road right before stopping and turning at a stop sign.

Officer Gonzales further testified that he saw the vehicle 0.7 miles from the jewelry store location. R. pp. 25, l. 16 – 26, l. 8; 32, ll. 4-8. When he caught up with the vehicle, the driver of the vehicle did not try to flee or do anything of the sort. R. pp. 26, l. 20 – 27, l. 1. The vehicle responded immediately and pulled over once Officer Gonzales activated his blue lights. R. p. 27, ll. 5-8. Officer Gonzales reconfirmed that he did not receive any information about the vehicle's tag until after he stopped the vehicle. R. pp. 27, l. 9 – 28, l. 1.

Officer Gonzales' patrol vehicle was equipped with an in-car video which recorded the stop in the early morning hours of November 29, 2010. R. p. 28, ll. 2-21; State's Ex. 3 (in-car video). During cross-examination of Officer Gonzales, defense counsel for Appellant played the video. Officer Gonzales conceded seeing several other vehicles besides the one Appellant was riding in on the road at this time of night, including another

vehicle stopped at a stoplight right where Officer Gonzales was pulling over the vehicle in question. Defense counsel continued to point out to Officer Gonzales even more vehicles on the road that could be seen driving on the highway in the background of the in-car video. In all, approximately eighteen other vehicles, either parked at the Walgreens or driving on the highway in the background, could be seen on the dash cam video during the first minutes of the stop. R. p. 29, ll. 1 – 11; State’s Ex. 3 (in-car video).

When Officer Gonzales decided to pull the vehicle in which Appellant was located, he did not see anything suspicious about the vehicle and just saw a person driving it. He did not notice Appellant lying down in the back until after he stopped the vehicle. He did not see what the driver was wearing until after he stopped the vehicle. R. pp. 31, l. 13 – 32, l. 3.

At the conclusion of the suppression hearing, defense counsel for Appellant argued there was no probable cause for Officer Gonzales to have stopped the vehicle for a traffic violation and also no reasonable suspicion of criminal activity to have stopped the vehicle. There was no description of a subject or vehicle being sought after the burglary at the jewelry store. The only reasons Officer Gonzales pulled the vehicle was because it was driving slowly approaching a stop sign to turn onto a major highway and because the vehicle was seen 0.7 miles from the burglary location. Defense counsel for Appellant asserted that these two factors were not enough to justify Officer Gonzales’ stop of the vehicle, especially where there was a good bit of traffic in this particular light industrial area at that time of night. R. pp. 41, l. 10 – 43, l. 3.

The Trial Court recognized being located in the vicinity of a crime would not be sufficient to give rise to a stop because it would mean that anyone who happened to “chance along that way would be subject to a stop for no reason at all.” R. p. 43, ll. 4-14. The Trial

Court, however, was concerned with the lateness of the hour and the fact that the vehicle originally was on a less traveled road before it pulled onto a well traveled and busy highway. R. pp. 43, l. 15 – 44, l. 7.

Defense counsel argued that a vehicle being on a side street in the vicinity of the crime should not warrant a different level of scrutiny and pointed out that for all anyone knew, the vehicle could have missed its turn and turned around. R. p. 44, ll. 9-16. Defense counsel also emphasized that other than the lateness of the hour, there was absolutely nothing else or any kind of evasive conduct observed by Office Gonzales with respect to the vehicle. R. pp. 45, l. 3 – 47, l. 2. Defense counsel stressed the officer's hunch was not enough to stop the vehicle under the requirements of the Fourth Amendment. R. p. 47, ll. 2-5.

Defense counsel further argued to the Trial Court that seven-tenths of a mile away from the location of the burglary was also not in the vicinity of the crime. He pointed out to the Trial Court that it was not as if the officer saw the vehicle pulling out of the parking lot of the jewelry store shopping center. R. pp. 48, ll. 19 – 49, l. 23. There was nothing about this particular vehicle that gave the officer reasonable suspicion that the occupants of the vehicle had been involved in criminal activity; the officer was just merely randomly stopping vehicles. R. p. 56, ll. 1-13.

The Trial Court denied the motion to suppress, ruling the officer's observance of the vehicle close in time and place of the burglary, along with the lateness of the hour and the limited traffic on the road at that hour, constituted a totality of circumstances in which reasonable suspicion justifiably existed for the officer to have stopped the vehicle. The

Trial Court noted on the record that Appellant's objection was preserved for appellate review. R. pp. 58, l. 5 – 61, l. 13.

Prior to the start of trial testimony, Appellant again made a continuing objection to any evidence that was obtained as a result of the stop, including any evidence taken from the vehicle and any statements made by Appellant that would not have been obtained but for the stop of the vehicle. The Trial Court noted Appellant's continuing objection and stated that Appellant did not need to continue to object to such evidence throughout the trial. R. pp. 74, l. 5 – 75, l. 6.

During his trial testimony, Officer Gonzales acknowledged that there were always cars traveling on Highway 278 where the vehicle in question was pulled and that the Walgreens where the vehicle pulled over was open for business even at 2:30 in the morning. Officer Gonzales also acknowledged that there was a large subdivision and golf course nearby. R. pp. 105, l. 4 – 106, l. 24. He further testified that the speed of the vehicle in question caught his attention, but admitted that if the vehicle had been traveling at a faster rate of speed, he probably would not have ignored the vehicle and would have still stopped it. R. p. 104, ll. 7-19.

At the conclusion of the trial testimony, Appellant again argued for the suppression of the evidence based on the unlawful stop of the vehicle. Appellant asserted to the Trial Court that the clear inference from Officer Gonzales' trial testimony was that even though the vehicle in question was not the only car he saw, he was going to stop the vehicle regardless and regardless of what speed it was traveling. Appellant also reiterated to the Trial Court that Officer Gonzales' trial testimony confirmed the existence of traffic in the area even during the early morning hours, especially where there was large residential area

nearby as well as a nighttime pharmacy. The Trial Court once again denied the motion to suppress. R. pp. 236, l. 12 – 240, l. 19.

Discussion

The stop of the vehicle in question was not supported by either probable cause or reasonable suspicion. The Fourth Amendment guarantees “[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. CONST. AMEND. IV. The stopping of a vehicle and the detention of its occupants constitute a seizure and implicates the Fourth Amendment's prohibition against unreasonable searches and seizures. State v. Butler, 353 S.C. 383, 389, 577 S.E.2d 498, 501 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing Delaware v. Prouse, 440 U.S. 648, 653–54, (1979)).

“As a general matter, the decision to stop an automobile is reasonable where the police have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred.” State v. Butler, 343 S.C. 198, 201, 539 S.E.2d 414, 415 (Ct. App. 2000). Our courts have held that in South Carolina, however, an officer may stop and briefly detain the occupants of a car without treading on Fourth Amendment rights, even without probable cause to arrest, if he has a reasonable suspicion that the occupants are involved in criminal activity. Id.; Sikes v. State, 323 S.C. 28, 30–31, 448 S.E.2d 560, 562 (1994); Knight v. State, 284 S.C. 138, 141, 325 S.E.2d 535, 537 (1985). “ ‘[A] policeman who lacks probable cause but whose observations lead him reasonably to suspect that a particular person has committed, is committing, or is about to commit a crime, may detain that person briefly in order to investigate the circumstances that provoke that suspicion.’ ” State v. Nelson, 336 S.C. 186, 192, 519 S.E.2d 786, 789 (1999) (quoting Berkemer v. McCarty, 468 U.S. 420, 439 (1984)).

“‘Reasonable suspicion’ requires a ‘particularized and objective basis that would lead one to suspect another of criminal activity.’ ” State v. Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. 62, 69, 572 S.E.2d 456, 459 (2002) (quoting United States v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411, 418 (1981)). “In determining whether reasonable suspicion exists, ‘the totality of the circumstances—the whole picture—’ must be considered.” Id. (quoting Cortez, 449 U.S. at 417); see also State v. Woodruff, 344 S.C. 537, 546, 544 S.E.2d 290, 295 (Ct. App. 2001) (“The term ‘reasonable suspicion’ requires a particularized and objective basis that would lead one to suspect another of criminal activity. In determining whether reasonable suspicion exists, the whole picture must be considered.”) Reasonable suspicion is something more than an inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch. Butler, 343 S.C. at 202, 539 S.E.2d at 416. However, it is less than the level required for probable cause. Id.

Here, it was undisputed that Officer Gonzales did not have probable cause to stop the vehicle in question where the State presented no evidence that the vehicle had violated any traffic laws. Officer Gonzales admitted he did not learn that the tag was suspended until after he had already stopped the vehicle. Tr. I. pp. 14, 1. 14 – 15, 1. 2; 27, 1. 9 – 28, 1. 1. Therefore, for the stop of the vehicle to have been lawful, Officer Gonzales must have had reasonable suspicion that the occupants of the vehicle were engaged in criminal activity. The State was required to have shown a particularized and objective basis that would have led Officer Gonzales to suspect that the occupants of the vehicle he stopped were engaged in criminal activity.

The only facts known by Officer Gonzales when he stopped the vehicle in question were that (1) the vehicle was spotted 0.7 miles away from a burglary that had been committed minutes earlier during the early morning hours of November 29, 2010; and (2)

the vehicle was slowly approaching a stop sign on a side street to turn right onto a major thoroughfare. R. pp. 14, ll. 1-13; 25, l. 16 – 26, l. 8; 32, ll. 4-8; 38, ll. 7-10; 40, ll. 5-23.

The factors not known by Officer Gonzales or otherwise not observed by him were the following:

1. Officer Gonzales had no information about how the burglary at the jewelry store was committed, whether it was by someone on foot, bicycle, or vehicle. R. p. 24, ll. 13-23;
2. Officer Gonzales did not have any description of the possible suspects of the burglary. R. p. 24, ll. 13-23;
3. Officer Gonzales did not see multiple occupants in the vehicle until after he stopped the vehicle and could only see the driver when he decided to stop the vehicle. R. pp. 31, l. 13 – 32, l. 3;
4. Officer Gonzales did not observe the vehicle or its occupants driving evasively or otherwise engaging in any evasive conduct. R. pp. 31, l. 13 – 32, l. 3;
5. Office Gonzales testified that the driver of the vehicle did not attempt to flee when Officer Gonzales activated his blue lights to pull the vehicle over. R. pp. 26, l. 20-27, l. 1; and
6. Officer Gonzales did not observe what type of clothing the occupants were wearing until after he stopped the vehicle. R. pp. 31, l. 13 – 32, l. 3.

Officer Gonzales also acknowledged that he did not see this particular vehicle in question when he was driving from Dan's Fan City to the jewelry store and had actually seen a another vehicle when he was on his way to the burglary scene. That was the vehicle he was looking for when he left the jewelry store. If he had seen that vehicle, he would have stopped it instead. R. pp. 13, ll. 19-25; 21, ll. 8-11; 21, l. 19-22, l. 4; 22, ll. 5-18. His plan was really just to stop any vehicle he observed.

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