ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Beaufort County
Honorable Thomas W. Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2011-196666

RECEIVED
MAR 24 2015
SC COURT OF APPEALS

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

ANDRE DECOSTA,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ISAAC McDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1880
Bluffton, SC 29910
(843) 255-5880

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Beaufort County

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

ARGUMENT

The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion to suppress the incriminating evidence discovered during an investigatory stop of the vehicle in which Appellant was riding because, under the totality of the circumstances, the experienced officer who conducted the stop possessed a reasonable articulable suspicion of criminal activity after he observed the driver of the vehicle driving in a suspiciously slow manner at approximately 2:52 a.m. in an area devoid of any other vehicles roughly a half mile away from the scene of a burglary that had been committed less than four minutes earlier. However, even if the investigatory stop had not been supported by reasonable articulable suspicion, the trial judge committed no error in denying the suppression motion because both the attenuation or intervening act doctrine and the inevitable discovery doctrine were applicable under the circumstances of Appellant's case.

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in refusing to suppress incriminating evidence discovered during an investigatory stop of a vehicle in which he was riding. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains the stop violated his constitutional rights because it was allegedly not supported by either reasonable articulable suspicion or probable cause. Contrary to Appellant's assertions, the officer who conducted the stop possessed a reasonable articulable suspicion of criminal activity after he observed the driver of the vehicle driving in a manner he considered to be suspiciously slow based on his fifteen years of law enforcement experience at approximately 2:52 a.m. in an area in which no other vehicles were located roughly a half mile away from the scene of a burglary that had been committed only a few minutes earlier. Therefore, the trial judge properly declined to suppress the incriminating evidence discovered during the stop. However, even assuming the investigatory stop had not been supported by reasonable articulable suspicion, the trial judge nonetheless committed no error in denying the suppression motion because any taint that could have resulted from the initiation of the investigatory stop was sufficiently purged by the officer's discovery of an independent intervening circumstance that provided justification for the stop prior to the discovery of

any incriminating evidence. Likewise, the trial judge's decision to deny the suppression was also proper and correct because the incriminating evidence would have inevitably been discovered even if the officer had not conducted the investigatory stop based on his suspicions of criminal activity. Accordingly, Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). In Fourth Amendment search and seizure cases, the appellate court is limited to determining if there is any evidence to support the trial judge's findings and can only reverse due to clear error. State v. Flowers, 360 S.C. 1, 5, 598 S.E.2d 725, 727 (Ct. App. 2004); see State v. Brockman, 339 S.C. 57, 66, 528 S.E.2d 661, 666 (2000) (“[W]e will review the trial court's ruling like any other factual finding and reverse if there is clear error. We will affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling.”). The reviewing court may conduct its own review of the record to determine whether the trial judge's ruling is supported by the evidence. State v. Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. 62, 70, 572 S.E.2d 456, 460 (2002). However, the appellate court must affirm the trial judge if there is any evidence in the record to support his or her ruling. State v. Pichardo, 367 S.C. 84, 96, 623 S.E.2d 840, 846 (Ct. App. 2005). Critically, the appellate court will **not** reverse merely because it would have reached a different conclusion than the trial judge. State v. Rivera, 384 S.C. 356, 361, 682 S.E.2d 307, 310 (Ct. App. 2009).

ANALYSIS

A. Propriety of the Investigatory Stop

The Fourth Amendment protects “[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S.

Const. amend. IV. This guarantee protects against unreasonable searches and seizures, including those involving only a brief detention. Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 97, 623 S.E.2d at 847. “The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness.” Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991). Thus, only unreasonable searches and seizures are prohibited. State v. Foster, 269 S.C. 373, 378, 237 S.E.2d 589, 591 (1977); see Maryland v. Buie, 494 U.S. 325, 331 (1990) (“It goes without saying that the Fourth Amendment bars only unreasonable searches and seizures[.]”).

Pursuant to the Fourth Amendment, “[a] police officer may stop and briefly detain and question a person for investigative purposes, without treading upon his Fourth Amendment rights, when the officer has a reasonable suspicion supported by articulable facts, short of probable cause for arrest, that the person is involved in criminal activity.” State v. Blassingame, 338 S.C. 240, 248, 525 S.E.2d 535, 539 (Ct. App. 1999); see State v. Robinson, 306 S.C. 399, 402, 412 S.E.2d 411, 413 (1991) (“To justify a brief stop and detention, the police officer must have a reasonable suspicion that the person has been involved in criminal activity.”); see also United States v. Sokolow, 490 U.S. 1, 7 (1989) (“[T]he police can stop and briefly detain a person for investigative purposes if the officer has a reasonable suspicion supported by articulable facts that criminal activity ‘may be afoot,’ even if the officer lacks probable cause.” (citation omitted)). The reasonableness of a stop or detention “is measured in objective terms by examining the totality of the circumstances.” Ohio v. Robinette, 519 U.S. 33, 39 (1996).

For Fourth Amendment purposes, an automobile stop, along with the detention of individuals during the stop, constitutes a seizure. State v. Maybank, 352 S.C. 310, 315, 573 S.E.2d 851, 854 (Ct. App. 2002). However, the initiation of an automobile stop is reasonable per se when either probable cause exists to believe a traffic violation has

occurred or reasonable suspicion exists to believe the occupants of the vehicle are involved in criminal activity. See Knigh t v. State, 284 S.C. 138, 141, 325 S.E.2d 535, 537 (1985) (“[A] police officer may stop an automobile and briefly detain its occupants, even without probable cause to arrest, if he has a reasonable suspicion that the occupants are involved in criminal activity.”); State v. Williams, 351 S.C. 591, 598, 571 S.E.2d 703, 707 (Ct. App. 2002) (“Where probable cause exists to believe that a traffic violation has occurred, the decision to stop the automobile is reasonable per se.”); State v. Morris, 312 S.C. 116, 117, 439 S.E.2d 291, 292 (Ct. App. 1993) (“[U]nder Terry, an officer may stop an automobile.”); see also Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 810 (1996) (“An automobile stop is thus subject to the constitutional imperative that it not be ‘unreasonable’ under the circumstances. As a general matter, the decision to stop an automobile is reasonable where the police have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred.”).

Reasonable suspicion consists of “ ‘a particularized and objective basis’ that would lead one to suspect another of criminal activity.” State v. Lesley, 326 S.C. 641, 644, 486 S.E.2d 276, 277 (Ct. App. 1997) (quoting United States v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411, 417 (1981)). “Reasonable suspicion ‘is not readily, or even usefully, reduced to a neat set of legal rules, but, rather, entails common sense, nontechnical conceptions that deal with factual and practical considerations of everyday life on which reasonable and prudent persons, not legal technicians, act.’ ” State v. Provet, 391 S.C. 494, 500, 706 S.E.2d 513, 516 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting United States v. Foreman, 369 F.3d 776, 781 (4th Cir. 2004)). “In this highly fact-specific inquiry, reasonable suspicion ‘is a fluid concept which takes its substantive content from the particular context in which the standard is being assessed.’ ” State v. Wallace, 392 S.C. 47, 51-52, 707 S.E.2d 451, 453 (Ct. App.

2011) (quoting Foreman, 369 F.3d at 781). The reasonable suspicion standard “is a less demanding standard than probable cause and requires a showing considerably less than preponderance of the evidence[.]” Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 123 (2000).

“Reasonable suspicion is more than a general hunch but less than what is required for probable cause.” State v. Willard, 374 S.C. 129, 134, 647 S.E.2d 252, 255 (Ct. App. 2007); see State v. Rogers, 368 S.C. 529, 534, 629 S.E.2d 679, 682 (Ct. App. 2006) (“Reasonable suspicion is something more than an inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch.”).

In determining the existence of reasonable suspicion, the totality of the circumstances must be considered. Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 104, 623 S.E.2d at 85. In reviewing the totality of the circumstances, the individual factors of the automobile stop must not be considered piecemeal or in isolation. See United States v. Branch, 537 F.3d 328, 337 (4th Cir. 2008) (“Courts must look at the ‘cumulative information available’ to the officer . . . and not find a stop unjustified based merely on a ‘piecemeal refutation of each individual’ fact and inference[.]” (citations omitted)). Instead, all of the circumstances of the stop, including the officer’s own experience and specialized training, must be considered as a whole to determine whether the officer’s actions were reasonable in light of all of the information available to him at the time. See United States v. Mason, 628 F.3d 123, 129 (4th Cir. 2010) (“[J]ust as one corner of a picture might not reveal the picture’s subject or nature, each component that contributes to reasonable suspicion might not alone give rise to reasonable suspicion.”); see also United States v. Arvizu, 534 U.S. 266, 273 (2002) (“[W]e have said repeatedly that [reviewing courts] must look at the ‘totality of the circumstances’ of each case to see whether the detaining officer has a ‘particularized and objective basis’ for suspecting legal

wrongdoing. The process allows officers to draw on their own experience and specialized training to make inferences from and deductions about the cumulative information available to them that ‘might well elude an untrained person.’ ” (citations omitted)). “In applying the concept of reasonable suspicion to the various facts of a case, ‘[i]t is the entire mosaic that counts, not single tiles.’ ” Wallace, 392 S.C. at 52, 707 S.E.2d at 453 (quoting United States v. Whitehead, 849 F.2d 849, 858 (4th Cir. 1988)).

In the case sub judice, the trial judge properly denied Appellant’s suppression motion because Sergeant Gonzales’ decision to conduct an investigatory stop of the suspicious vehicle in which Appellant was riding was reasonable and proper under the totality of the circumstances. Critically, the officer’s decision was reasonable because Sergeant Gonzales observed numerous suspicious factors that, when considered in conjunction with one another, led him to reasonably suspect the vehicle may have been connected to and involved with the arson and burglary that had been committed nearby only minutes earlier. Accordingly, Appellant’s constitutional rights were not violated by the investigatory stop of the vehicle he was riding in, and the trial judge correctly declined to suppress the stolen jewelry, axe, and other incriminating evidence discovered as a result of that stop.

Regarding the suspicious circumstances detected by the officer, Sergeant Gonzales encountered the vehicle in which Appellant was riding at approximately 2:52 a.m. approximately a half mile away from a jewelry store that had been burglarized less than four minutes earlier. See United States v. Lender, 985 F.2d 151, 154 (4th Cir. 1993) (recognizing “[t]he lateness of the hour” is a “fact that may raise the level of suspicion”). At that time, the vehicle was heading towards Highway 278, a nearby major road on which other vehicles were travelling at the time, but was the only vehicle located in the

area where it was observed by Sergeant Gonzales, was the first vehicle Sergeant Gonzales had encountered after leaving the jewelry store, and was only the second vehicle the officer had seen since he was alerted the jewelry store's burglary alarm had been triggered. See State v. Campbell, 188 N.C. App. 701, 706, 656 S.E.2d 721, 726 (N.C. Ct. App. 2008) ("The proximity to a crime scene, the time of day, or the absence of other persons in and of themselves may be insufficient to establish reasonable suspicion, **but taken together, such factors certainly may suffice.**" (emphasis added)). Likewise, the driver of the vehicle was operating the vehicle at such a slow speed it was highly unusual and suspicious to the officer based on his fifteen years of law enforcement training and experience. See Wilson v. Porter, 361 F.2d 412, 415 (9th Cir. 1966) ("We cannot say that the circumstances of a car making inordinately slow progress along a street in the small hours of the morning could not reasonably have aroused the suspicions of a local officer alert to the unusual within his beat, and lead him to investigate."); see also Cortez, 449 U.S. at 418 ("[A] trained officer draws inferences and makes deductions – **inferences and deductions that might well elude an untrained person.**" (emphasis added)); see generally Arvizu, 534 U.S. at 277 ("A determination that reasonable suspicion exists . . . need not rule out the possibility of innocent conduct.").

When viewing those suspicious circumstances in conjunction with one another and not in isolation, Sergeant Gonzales was aware the driver of the vehicle Appellant was riding in was driving in a suspiciously slow manner just before 3:00 a.m. in an area devoid of any other vehicles a short distance away from the scenes of an arson and a burglary that had been committed just minutes earlier. See State v. Miller, 137 Conn. App. 520, 539-540, 48 A.3d 748, 760 (Conn. App. Ct. 2012) (explaining temporal proximity and locational proximity of a stop to the scene of a crime are highly significant

towards a determination as to whether an investigatory stop is reasonable and justified under the circumstances and concluding “[Miller]’s lone presence, close in temporal and physical proximity to the scene of the burglary, contributed to the establishment of reasonable suspicion, thereby permitting the police to stop him”). Based on those suspicious circumstances, Sergeant Gonzales was justified in believing the vehicle in which Appellant was riding may have been involved in the arson and burglary that had been committed nearby just moments earlier and, thus, possessed a reasonable articulable suspicion of criminal activity. See Wardlow, 528 U.S. at 124-125 (“In reviewing the propriety of an officer’s conduct, courts do not have available empirical studies dealing with inferences drawn from suspicious behavior, and we cannot reasonably demand scientific certainty from judges or law enforcement officers where none exists. Thus, the determination of reasonable suspicion must be based on commonsense judgments and inferences about human behavior.”); Cortez, 449 U.S. at 418 (The process [of determining whether reasonable suspicion exists] does not deal with hard certainties, but with probabilities. Long before the law of probabilities was articulated as such, practical people formulated certain common sense conclusions about human behavior; jurors as factfinders are permitted to do the same – and so are law enforcement officers.”); see also Lender, 985 F.2d at 154 (“Reasonable suspicion is a commonsensical proposition. Courts are not remiss in crediting the practical experience of officers who observe on a daily basis what transpires on the street.”); cf. United States v. Moore, 817 F.2d 1105, 1106-1107 (4th Cir. 1987) (finding an officer’s investigatory stop of Moore was supported by reasonable suspicion where Moore was located late at night approximately thirty to forty yards away from a building that had just been burglarized two to three minutes earlier and was the only person in the area). As a result, Sergeant Gonzales was

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